

Australian Government Department of Defence Defence Science and Technology Organisation

A Study of Condition Based Maintenance for Land Force Vehicles

Sreeja Rajesh and Benjamin Francis

Land Operations Division

Defence Science and Technology Organisation

DSTO-GD-0664

ABSTRACT

Condition Based Maintenance (CBM) is a method of both diagnostic and prognostic maintenance that has been used extensively in the air environment. This report describes a literature review of CBM where it relates to the land-based platform maintenance in particular. The review outlines the current state of CBM analysis, and in particular in terms of prognostic fleet management. Emphasis is further placed on an enquiry into the costs and benefits of CBM for land force equipment maintenance. A number of CBM cost-benefit studies are used as case studies to provide a framework for future analysis, including the potential challenges and the issues that CBM could bring to Army if implemented. The insights gained from this review give an understanding of the introduction and implementation of CBM to legacy fleets, but in particular the adoption of CBM into new equipment fleets such as LAND 400.

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

Published by

DSTO Defence Science and Technology Organisation PO Box 1500 Edinburgh, South Australia 5111, Australia

 Telephone:
 (08)
 7389
 5555

 Facsimile:
 (08)
 7389
 6567

© Commonwealth of Australia 2012 AR No. 015-194 February, 2012

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

A Study of Condition Based Maintenance for Land Force Vehicles

Executive Summary

There has been a drive over recent years to incorporate the concepts of condition monitoring which have been developed in the air environment into the domain of land-based platform maintenance. Under this paradigm maintenance transition from a time-based construct to one based on the need, or condition, of the platform itself. This Condition Based Maintenance (CBM) remains relatively new within the context of legacy military land vehicles within the Australian Army, yet it is likely to become more prevalent with future platform acquisitions, such as LAND 121 and LAND 400 in particular.

This report presents a literature review of CBM, with emphasis placed on the issues relating to land platforms. An important component of this review is an attempt to articulate what is understood in terms of a CBM system, and to provide a working definition for discussion. Another central theme of this review is to inform debate on developing a value proposition for CBM being introduced into Army, and in new fleets in particular. An important component of this is to understand the cost-benefit analysis that has been done to date and identify relevant factors for any future work conducted by Land Operations Division.

Whilst the literature review found technical papers focusing on the capacity to sense equipment condition, there were fewer dealing directly with the health prediction of specific sub-systems. There is less published on the success or otherwise of actual systems applied to land vehicles. Indeed, the predominant focus has been the technology aspects of the sensors themselves. There has been less analysis on the broader requirements of CBM beyond the platform, or indeed how CBM might inform decisions at different levels within Defence, or how it might be used to prime the spares supply chain. The report outlines at least some of the likely costs and benefits and furthermore discusses some of the potential challenges to be faced during the introduction of any CBM system into Army land-based platforms. $\rm DSTO-GD-0664$

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	3							
2	Background									
	2.1	Reliability/Maintenance	3							
	2.2	History of Condition Based Maintenance	5							
3	Con	dition Based Maintenance	6							
	3.1	Potential Advantages								
	3.2	Diagnostics								
	3.3	Prognostics	9							
	3.4	CBM System Description	10							
		3.4.1 Data Collection and Acquisition	11							
		3.4.2 Data Transmission and Communication	11							
		3.4.3 Data Storage and Warehousing	12							
		3.4.4 Data Processing and Analysis	12							
		3.4.5 Maintenance Decision Support	13							
4	CBI	M Case Studies	13							
	4.1	Aircraft Non-Tangible Benefit Study	14							
	4.2	Pharmaceutical Industry 14								
	4.3	Helicopters $\ldots \ldots 15$								
	4.4	Boeing 737								
	4.5	Advanced Amphibious Assault Vehicle								
	4.6	Stryker Brigade Combat Team 17								
	4.7	Tactical Wheeled Vehicle Fleet	17							
5	CBM Cost Benefit Analysis 18									
	5.1	Overview	18							
	5.2	Generic Cost Benefit Analysis Studies	19							
	5.3	Exemplar B Vehicle Cost Benefit Analysis								
	5.4	Costs	21							
	5.5	Benefits	22							
6	Cha	llenges	24							

7	Conclusion	25	;)

References

 $\mathbf{27}$

Figures

2.1	Types of Maintenance	4
3.1	Parts of a CBM system	10
3.2	P-F Interval	13

 $\rm DSTO-GD-0664$

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Glossary

- AAAV Advanced Amphibious Assault Vehicle
- AAV Amphibious Assault Vehicle
- ADF Australian Defence Force
- AI Artificial Intelligence
- ANN Artificial Neural Networks
- Ao Operational Availability
- CBM Cost Benefit Analysis
- CBM Condition Based Maintenance
- CLOE Common Logistic Operating Environment
- CM Corrective Maintenance
- DoD Department of Defense
- EA Evolutionary Algorithms
- FIC Fundamental Inputs to Capability
- FNN Fuzzy Neural Networks
- HMM Hidden Markov Model
- HUMS Health and Usage Monitoring System
- LCVS Land Combat Vehicle System
- LRU Line Replaceable Unit

- MILIS Military Integrated Logistic Information System
- MLDT Mean Logistic Delay Time
- MTBF Mean Time Between Failure
- NCW Network Centric Warfare
- OEM Original Equipment Manufacturers
- PHM Proportional Hazard Model
- PIM Proportional Intensity Model
- ${\rm PM}-{\rm Preventative\ Maintenance}$
- RCM Reliability Centered Maintenance
- R & O Repair and Overhaul
- ROI-Return On Investment
- RUL Remaining Useful Life
- SBCT Stryker Brigade Combat Team
- SPC Statistical Process Control
- SVM Support Vector Machine
- TWV Tactical Wheeled Vehicle
- USD US Dollars

1 Introduction

The sustainment of land equipment fleets is a critical capability determinant of the Australian Army. Higher operational tempo, ageing fleets, and the requirement to transition to newer more advanced fleets has correspondingly heightened the degree of attention being focussed on land fleets. The Strategic Reform Program has further highlighted the need to reduce the cost of ownership through such measures as 'smart sustainment'. The Land Combat Vehicle System (LCVS), i.e. Land 400, is an example of a new sophisticated vehicle fleet that Defence will commence acquiring within the next decade. These vehicles represent significant changes in technology in terms of both the war-fighting capability and the capability of platforms themselves. Such is the increase in complexity that these vehicles will almost certainly require changes in the way they are supported both in-barracks and on deployment.

One area which is being actively investigated by Army is that of CBM, where maintenance is driven by actual equipment needs rather than a fixed time or usage-based preventative maintenance schedule. Whilst this maintenance paradigm has been prevalent within the air environment for many decades, and within the commercial land fleets, it is relatively new in terms of Army land-based platform maintenance. Whilst the argument in the air environment is based largely upon safety, the same argument does not apply as strongly within the land environment. Thus a new value proposition is required to be developed to justify the investment in CBM for Army, and Land 400 specifically. This report represents a literature review of the current state of publically available knowledge of CBM primarily within the Land environment. The report does not however consider in detail the specific sensor technologies that have or may be used on land platforms.

This report is organised as follows. Section 2 provides an introduction into the area of reliability and maintenance, with a history of where CBM has evolved from. Section 3 describes the study team's view of what constitutes a generic CBM system and its defining characteristics. Section 4 describes some CBM case studies. Section 5 provides an overview of cost-benefit examples that have been provided in both the commercial and specifically land-based platform maintenance, and how these might be broadly related to Defences business model of the fundamental inputs to capability. Finally Section 6 highlights perceived outstanding issues that will likely need to be addressed in any detailed value proposition for introduction of CBM within the LAND 400.

2 Background

2.1 Reliability/Maintenance

Reliability is defined as the ability of a system to perform as designed in an operational environment over a prescribed period without failure. Reliability Centered Maintenance (RCM) is a method for developing and selecting maintenance strategies and design alternatives, based on operational, economic and safety/ environmental criteria [1]. RCM was founded in the 1960s and initially oriented towards aircraft maintenance. Over the past decade this concept has started migrating to other industries [2]. The goal of an

RCM approach is to determine the most applicable cost-effective maintenance technique to minimise the risk of impact and failure and to create a hazard-free working environment while protecting and preserving capital investments and their capability. This goal is accomplished through an identification of failure modes and their consequences for each system. This allows system and equipment functionality to be maintained in the most economical manner [3]. The United States Department of Defense's (DoD) system reliability objective is to minimise the risk of failure within the defined availability, cost, schedule, weight, power, and volume constraints [4].



Figure 2.1: Types of Maintenance

Maintenance encompasses a wide variety of activities. Two main categories of maintenance shown in *Figure 2.1* namely Corrective Maintenance (CM) and Preventive Maintenance (PM)cover the full range of maintenance actions available. Corrective maintenance is conducted after failure or fault recognition and is intended to restore equipment to a state in which it can perform a required function. Battle damage repair can be considered as a special form of corrective maintenance, and is utilised to return materiel to a condition that enables it to complete a task or to enable rapid recovery for its continued operational use [5].

Preventive maintenance is the systematic and/or prescribed maintenance intended to reduce the probability of failure. Preventive maintenance requires the assessment, determination and description of tasks required to preserve the condition of an asset prior to failure. Preventive maintenance requirements are initially determined during the design of a system and further refined through use [5]. Preventive maintenance performed can encompass an inspection, test, servicing, even an overhaul or complete replacement [4].

The objective of any PM programme is the minimisation of inspection, repair and equipment downtime (measured in terms of lost production capacity or availability or reduced product quality). Two approaches have evolved for performing PM. The traditional approach is based on the use of statistical and reliability analysis of equipment failure. Under statistical-reliability-based PM, the minimum total cost objective is pursued by establishing fixed statistically "optimal" PM intervals at which to replace or overhaul equipment or components, termed scheduled maintenance. This is usually time-based or

usage-based. The second approach involves the use of sensor-based monitoring of equipment condition in order to predict when machine failure will occur. Under CBM, intervals between PM actions are no longer according to a fixed schedule, but are performed only "when needed" [6]. It should be noted that scheduled maintenance and CBM can be done together and are not mutually exclusive, as suggested in *Figure 2.1*. Thus unplanned maintenance, and associated downtime, can be replaced by maintenance planned to interfere less with operational requirements and thus mission reliability can be improved [5].

For the purpose of this paper, CBM is defined as: An established and accepted maintenance practice that derives maintenance requirements, in large part, from timely assessment of system condition obtained from embedded sensors and/or external tests and measurements using built-in or portable diagnostic equipment [7]. The goal of CBM is to perform maintenance based only upon the evidence of a need rather than any predetermined time cycle, equipment activity count, or other engineered basis [7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14].

2.2 History of Condition Based Maintenance

CBM is a traditional concept, if you consider human operators and maintainers as condition sensors. Automation of monitoring condition first appeared in the late 1940's in the Rio Grande Railway Company, to detect coolant and fuel leaks in a diesel engine by testing for traces in the lubricating oil [15]. They achieved outstanding economic success in reducing engine failure by performing maintenance whenever "any" glycol or fuel was detected in the engine oil. The U.S. army, impressed by the relative ease with which physical asset availability could be improved, adopted those techniques and developed others. During the 1950's, through to the 70s [16], CBM grew in popularity and a vibrant CBM technology industry emerged providing training, products, and services which came to be known as "predictive maintenance" [15]

CBM involves the use of various process parameters (e.g. pressure, temperature, vibration, flow) and material samples (e.g. oil and air) to monitor conditions. The data is collected, analysed, trended, and used to predict equipment failures. Once the timing of equipment failure is forecast, actions can be scheduled to prevent or delay failure. In this way, the reliability of the equipment can remain high [17, 14, 6].

There are two types of condition monitoring: continuous and periodic [11]. By continuous monitoring, the system continuously monitors (usually by mounted sensors) and triggers a warning alarm whenever a threshold is exceeded. Two limitations of continuous monitoring are: (1) it is often expensive; (2) to continuously monitor raw signals with noise can produce inaccurate diagnostic information [11]. Periodic monitoring is preferred as it is often more cost effective and provides more accurate diagnosis using filtered and/or processed data. The risk associated with using periodic monitoring relates to the possibility of missing failure events occurring between successive inspections [18, 19]. The main issue relevant to periodic monitoring is the determination of the appropriate condition monitoring, i.e. polling, interval [11].

The US Army has recognised the benefits of CBM and broadened these benefits in its "CBM+" plan, which includes not only the use of sensors but all practices, techniques, and technologies that improve maintenance plans and execution [20]. "CBM+" was a concept

originally developed in 2002 as a DoD initiative to provide a focus for a broad variety of maintenance improvements that would benefit both the maintainer and the warfighter [21]. "CBM+" is considered condition based maintenance enhanced by reliability analysis [4]. It is believed to lead to more efficient maintenance, better readiness, and cost savings associated with smaller logistics footprints [4].

"CBM+" builds squarely on the foundation of CBM and is focussed on inserting stateof-the-art maintenance applications, technologies, and techniques to improve the maintainability and availability of both new and legacy weapon systems. It involves re-engineering of maintenance business processes to improve logistics system responsiveness.

Capabilities within the "CBM+" initiative require [22]:

- enhanced prognosis and diagnosis techniques
- failure trend analysis and electronic portable maintenance aids
- automatic identification technology and data-driven interactive maintenance training.

The synergy between RCM and "CBM+" relates to the use of applicable "CBM+" technologies and methods to support management decisions for selecting and executing maintenance tasks. By linking RCM and "CBM+" as complementary management tools, maintainers might strengthen the rationale for choosing the most technically appropriate and effective maintenance task for a component or end item. In particular, the availability of timely and accurate condition assessment data made available through "CBM+" capabilities should improve the RCM analytical determination of failure management strategies. RCM and "CBM+" have a mutually beneficial relationship. Health management without RCM analysis becomes technology insertion without a justified functionality. Conversely, collection of aggregated or platform-centric health data without an understanding of which failure modes are consequential, and the most effective course-of-action, can lead to wasted effort and unnecessary expenditure of resources [4].

3 Condition Based Maintenance

3.1 Potential Advantages

To get a sense of how a CBM system is employed, we look at both "on-board" and "offboard" computing capabilities. By "on-board", we mean embedded into the operating equipment to be monitored. This way of characterizing CBM capability enables an analysis of how information is collected, analyzed, and acted upon in real time. The more embedded the technology, ideally the more real-time it can be.

The spectrum of CBM capability ranges from quite limited to potentially a more networked and sophisticated capability. Basic CBM capability could be monitoring a small number of systems or subsystems, collecting a history of monitored parameters and analyzing the data for trends. The vision for a sophisticated completely networked automated CBM system, for all primary platforms (ground, air and support) is to have embedded health monitoring systems covering the majority of mission-critical components [23, 24, 25, 26].

The potential advantages of a CBM system are:

- **Real-time assessment of equipment health** With the capability to provide useful reliability information, to the vehicle operator, CBM might be readily integrated into command and control systems. The value of CBM to the battlefield commander lies primarily in decision-making in order to increase mission effective-ness through reducing equipment downtime.
- Improved operational availability CBM methodology may increase the operational availability of military platforms by eliminating unnecessary inspection or maintenance as well as improve system performance [12]. Diagnostic and prognostic technology can reduce the trouble shooting time and prognostics can reduce the time to acquire a replacement part based on the ability to order spares, while the platform is still functional.
- More predictive/decision making In a dynamically changing training or contingency scenario, time and information are crucial elements needed by commanders to make key decisions. Since CBM can provide useful predictions on the health of equipment, the commander has the potential to make better decisions on operational employment of equipment in support of missions. More importantly, a prognostic capability can provide an indication of the existence of a fault during preparation for a mission. This facilitates better planning, as it can allow the maintainers to replace the potentially (or anticipated) defective component before the mission. This contributes to maintaining the operational availability of the specific platform over the duration of the mission as well as maintaining the reliability of the equipment due to avoiding an operational failure [27].
- Reduction in maintenance induced errors A portion of general troubleshooting may be automatically performed by the CBM system, which saves labour and helps reduce misdiagnosis. Repair technicians will perform fewer preventive maintenance actions such as inspections, adjustments and part replacements because a CBM system localises faults [12]. There is also a reduced requirement for data entry by both maintainers and operators.
- Anticipatory supply chain With advance notice from the CBM system, supply clerks can order parts and have them on hand in maintenance bays once the vehicle arrives for maintenance [12]. Here, prognostics and CBM may enhance the effectiveness and responsiveness of logistics by improving visibility to expected demand throughout the supply chain [28].
- A leaner supply chain/inventory A CBM system also provides important advantages to the supply chain. The proposed advantages are a reduction in reliance on expensive modes of transportation to meet urgent demands, as well as a reduction in the quantity of spares in inventory. One of the potentially important impacts upon military operations is the ability to provide advanced warning of an impending equipment failure through prognostics. Prognostics could also allow for decreased

inventory throughout all stages of the supply chain because of earlier warning of parts failure. Parts can be ordered and received before repairs are necessary and there could be potential substantial savings in inventory investment [12, 29].

• Estimation of Remaining Fleet Life - One of the applications of the captured usage is the impact on the remaining usable life of the system, and hence the expected life of type of the fleet as a whole. In a recent US study, data deficiencies and access constraints in enterprise-wide systems were identified as making such analysis difficult though possible [30]. Experience from recent US operations saw equipment with usage rates up to nine times the peacetime rate in harsh desert environments that were likely to generate even more accelerated degradation further emphasising the need to understand the usage history of equipment [31]. Also, with on-board systems it allows detailed understanding of how usage and degradation is spread throughout the fleet.

The condition monitoring and analysis part of CBM can be broken down into two types,

- Diagonostics
- Prognostics

These will be discussed in detail in the following sections.

3.2 Diagnostics

Diagnostics deals with post event analysis and includes fault detection, isolation and identification when it occurs.

Fault detection is a task to indicate whether something is going wrong in the monitored system; fault isolation is a task to locate the component that is faulty; and fault identification is a task to determine the nature of the fault when it is detected [11].

To better ensure readiness and decrease downtime costs, health monitoring technologies are developed for CBM of individual equipment items within a fleet. A common way of detecting faults in mechanical equipment, such as a ground-vehicles suspension and chassis, is to compare measured operational vibrations to a healthy reference signature in order to detect anomalies. The main challenge to this approach is that many legacy vehicles are not equipped with the sensors or acquisition systems to acquire, process and store mechanical data. Therefore, to implement health monitoring, one must overcome the economic and technical barriers associated with equipping ground vehicles to continuously monitor responses or to poll responses from the sensors. If a vehicle cannot be equipped with sensors, an instrumented diagnostic cleat could alternatively be used to measure the vehicles dynamic response as it traverses the cleat at a fixed speed [32]. This approach potentially eliminates the need for on-vehicle sensors but provides measurements that indicate the condition of wheels and suspension systems. This approach can potentially improve total vehicle performance, reduce costly maintenance repairs and labor hours,

and increase time efficiency so vehicles spend more time in the field and less time in a maintenance bay [32].

There are various machine fault diagnostic approaches which include statistical approaches, artificial intelligence approaches and model based approaches. Research into diagnostics includes statistical processes: like cluster analysis; Hidden Markov Models (HMM); signal grouping based on certain distance measures or a similarity measure between two signals; using Bayesian networks; support vector machine (SVM) techniques; and statistical process control (SPC) techniques etc.

Examples for artificial intelligent (AI) techniques include: artificial neural networks (ANNs); fuzzy logic systems; fuzzy neural networks (FNNs); neural fuzzy systems and evolutionary algorithms (EAs) [33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38]. Work on model based techniques use residual generation methods such as the kalman filter, parameter estimation (or system identification); and parity relations that are used to obtain signals, called residuals, which are indicative of fault presence in the machine [11].

Since there are so many diagnostic methods, one of the difficulties is to understand and choose the right method. Another issue is to assess the success and cost of these methods. A major challenge of diagonostics in CBM is to identify correctly what conditions of the vehicle are to be monitored. Once identified, appropriate sensors combined with vehicle-level automated computational capability are needed to trigger warnings accurately. Sensor integration, component traceability regardless of platform and configuration management are also issues that should be addressed to have an effective CBM capability.

3.3 Prognostics

Prognostics deals with fault prediction; identifying whether a fault is impending and estimating how soon and how likely a fault is to occur. Prognostics achieves zero-downtime performance more efficiently than diagonostics. Diagnostics, however, is required when fault prediction fails and a fault occurs [11].

Compared to diagnostics, the literature on prognostics is less abundant. There are two main prediction types in machine prognostics. The most obvious and widely used prognostics is used to predict how much time is left before a failure occurs given the current machine condition and past operation profile. This is called Remaining Useful Life (RUL) of the system or subsystem. Similar to diagnosis, prognosis also falls into three categories. Statistical, artificial intelligence and model based approaches [11]. Some of the statistical methods used are Proportional Hazard Model (PHM), Proportional Intensity Model (PIM), Hidden Markov Model (HMM), continuous-discrete stochastic process, gamma process etc [39, 40, 41, 33, 42]. Some of the AI techniques applied to RUL estimation are neural networks and neural fuzzy approaches [43, 44]. Another class of machine fault diagnostic is the model-based approach, including the hierarchical modelling approach and non-stochastic model [45, 46, 47].

Accurate identification of RUL is a challenge that needs to be addressed in the prognostic area. Another difficulty would be prognostic algorithm development and sensor integration and overall system integration. Also another challenge is to evaluate, understand and test the level of maturity of the diagnostics and prognostics techniques. Expansion of

CBM models from the consideration of single components to complete systems could be another potential challenge.

3.4 CBM System Description



Figure 3.1: Parts of a CBM system

Some of the important components of CBM are listed below [11, 48]:

- Data collection and acquisition
- Data transmission and communication
- Data storage and warehousing
- Data processing and analysis
- Maintenance decision support

Figure 3.1 describes the different parts of the a CBM system.

3.4.1 Data Collection and Acquisition

Data acquisition is a process of collecting and storing useful data (information) from targeted physical assets for the purpose of CBM as shown in *Figure 3.1*. This process is an essential step in implementing a CBM program for machinery fault (or failure) diagnostics and prognostics. Data collected in a CBM program can be categorised into two main types: event data and condition monitoring data.

Event data includes information on what happened (e.g. information on the installation, breakdown, overhaul, etc, and what the causes were) and/or what was done to the targeted physical asset (e.g. inspection data, minor repair, oil change, etc.). Condition monitoring data are the measurements related to the health condition/state of the physical asset [11, 48]. A challenge in this area would be identifying the appropriate sensor suite to collect data.

3.4.2 Data Transmission and Communication

Hingst in his article [28] focuses on the ability to 'Connect' and 'Collect' and the way the Australian Defence Force (ADF) can develop these abilities. This is documented extensively in the Network Centric Warfare Roadmap [49].

The Roadmap envisages an ADF in which:

- key logistic function networks within the national support area are linked with those in theater and provide connectivity and a collaborative planning ability with industry and coalition partners
- commanders have end-to-end visibility of the logistic system, allowing them to rapidly and effectively prioritise the resources required to generate and sustain deployed force elements
- automated ordering and replenishment occurs as supplies and ordnance are consumed by platforms and field units
- the deployed force has minimised its vulnerabilities and significantly enhanced its mobility through more effective reachback, optimum force presence and precision sustainment for the majority of logistics requirements [50].

Yet, based on a review of the Network Centric Warfare (NCW) Roadmap and the assumption that the supported projects will achieve their desired states, the ADF will still only partially achieve its goal in the critical area of logistics. This is because of the existence of a residual 'air gap' at the platform end of the logistics continuum preventing commanders from accessing aggregated, real-time logistics data from the tactical environment platform. As a consequence, the decision-making ability of the operational commander may be less than optimal. Critical support costs will also be higher than necessary [28]. In order to activate this aspirational goal it would be important to have an efficient data communication and transmission system connecting all parts of the supply chain for the CBM system to work effectively, as shown in *Figure 3.1*. The challenge for CBM would be to identify ways to connect different parts of the system and move large

amounts of data between them in a vulnerable tactical environment where bandwidth comes at a premium.

3.4.3 Data Storage and Warehousing

Data storage, as shown in *Figure 3.1*, can either be done onboard or data could be downloaded to an off-board centre for storage and processing. There are database management programs that can be used to store data and make comparisons between current measurements, past measurements, and pre-defined limits (alarm set points). Data mining techniques can be employed to get useful information from large sets of stored data such as database management programs [51]. Storage of large amounts of data and good data mining techniques to retrieve the right data could be a challenge that needs to be addressed in this area.

3.4.4 Data Processing and Analysis

This involves two processes

- Data Cleaning
- Data Analysis

Data cleaning is the first step of data processing. Data cleaning ensures all data, especially event data (which if entered manually, may contain many errors) is cleaned up, so that error-free data is available for further analysis and modelling. Cleaning up of data is non-trivial and may require manual intervention. Graphical tools and cleaning/scrubbing algorithms can also be used to find and remove data errors [11, 48].

The models, algorithms and tools used for data analysis depend mainly on the types of data collected which could be value type, waveform type or multi-dimensional type.

Data analysis for event data is well known. Reliability analysis fits the event data to a probability distribution of time between events and uses the fitted distribution for further analysis. In CBM, however, condition monitoring data is also available. Thus, it is beneficial to analyse event data and condition monitoring data together. This combined data analysis can be accomplished by building a mathematical model that properly describes the underlying mechanism of a fault or a failure. Models based on both event and condition monitoring data are the basis for maintenance decision support-diagnostics and prognostics. Models that can analyse both event and condition monitoring data include the proportional hazard model. In CBM, the concept known as P-F interval is used to describe the failure patterns in condition monitoring. A P-F interval is the time interval between a potential failure (P), which is identified by a condition indicator, and a functional failure (F). A P-F interval as shown in *Figure 3.2* is a useful tool to determine the condition monitoring interval for periodical condition monitoring [52].



Figure 3.2: P-F Interval. After'[52]

3.4.5 Maintenance Decision Support

The last step of a CBM program is maintenance decision-making as shown in *Figure 3.1*. Sufficient and effective decision support would be crucial to maintenance personnel's decisions on taking maintenance actions. RCM is one approach used for establishing a robust maintenance program for equipment fleets based on the underlying failure characteristics of the systems [11, 53]. However, the goal of maintenance is to make economically justifiable decisions and PHM provides a basis to model the condition-based maintenance decision as a semi-markov decision process whereby the issue of minimising total cost (or another appropriate goal such as maximising availability) can be systematically addressed [53]. Maintenance decisions depend very much on actual measured abnormalities and incipient faults, and the prediction of the trend of equipment deterioration [54]. Some examples of decision support models include models using recurrent neural networks [54] and, models using a fully user definable/modifiable set of decision rules capable of automatically analysing any selected parts of a system [55].

Identification of the high maintenance drivers and low Mean Time Between Failures (MTBFs) and cost drivers are very important in making effective maintenance decisions and these are some of the challenges of CBM.

4 CBM Case Studies

Some of the studies have analysed and have come up with numbers which indicate clear potential benefits that can be achieved using CBM method of maintenance. In this section,

some examples of such studies are given.

4.1 Aircraft Non-Tangible Benefit Study

Bayoumi et al [56] conducted a Cost and Benefit Analysis (CBA) to study the effect of implementation of CBM on aircraft maintenance. This includes studying the cost savings in spare parts, operational support, the increase in mission capability rates, the decrease in scheduled and non-scheduled maintenance, and the increase in total flight time. Based on the data collected, average annual savings of 15, 196.88 USD (2007) was noted for maintenance test flights. If this number is totalled for the duration of the data collection period (2000-2007), it can be found that this is a per aircraft savings of 121, 575.00 USD over the 8 year period. They have come up with the following results and benefits. Savings can be broken down into 1.4 M USD for spare parts, 2.1M USD for operation support, and additional non-monetary increases in mission capability rates. Non-tangible benefits have been analyzed in the model. These values are based on information and surveys from the Ground Base Station and are used to show the non-tangible benefits that arise from the use of their CBM system such as improved safety, perception of safety, morale, and performance. The study identified that the implementation of CBM will see an increase in aircraft availability, safety, and operational flight hours along with a decrease in premature parts failure, mission aborts, and unscheduled maintenance occurrences.

4.2 Pharmaceutical Industry

Rajan et al [57] compared the cost effectiveness of the CBM against reactive or breakdown maintenance and planned preventive maintenance. In the paper, a mathematical model was developed to predict the cost of repairs for batch process plant machinery in the pharmaceutical industry. The model was used to provide an appropriate means for plant engineers to decide whether the use of condition monitoring methods as part of a condition-based maintenance strategy is justified in terms of cost benefit analysis. If so what type of monitoring is best employed, e.g., vibration analysis, using portable data collectors considered as the high level CBM system or noting the condition of lubricating oil considered as the low level CBM system. To test the model against actual plant data, the direct costs of repair and the consequential costs of failure were predicted and compared with known costs. To be able to predict costs, the model proposed is formulated in two parts: a) The costs of damage to the machine itself and the associated direct costs of repair b) The consequential costs in regard to loss of production due to down time, etc. The conclusion they reached is that breakdown maintenance is only marginally more expensive than planned maintenance. A slight increase in pump reliability will bring down breakdown maintenance costs below that of planned maintenance. The break even point rises dramatically between using the low level CBM system and the high level system and hence in the introductory stages a low level system will deliver benefits much more positively than a high level CBM system. It has also been noted that CBM becomes more expensive than breakdown maintenance when consequential costs are not involved [57].

4.3 Helicopters

Land [58] in his cost benefit model for helicopters using HUMS (Health and Usage Monitoring Systems), states that it is important to list all of the potential areas of cost as well as benefits. The costs include those to implement a HUMS program to begin with as well as the recurring costs to maintain the program. On the benefit side there are direct costs that are readily seen and attributable to the HUMS. There are other benefits that may be of equal importance and potentially of even higher value but are less easy to determine. For example, the cost of safety is difficult to assess. This study also concludes that the benefits of CBM show economically justified investments currently but states that as these systems are employed in day-to-day operations, new methods will evolve. In addition, as new technologies emerge, the CBM design must be such that continued evolution is possible to accommodate changes.

4.4 Boeing 737

Feldman *et al* [59] discusses the calculation of Return On Investment (ROI) for Prognostics and Health Management¹ activities and presents a case study conducted using a stochastic discrete event simulation model to determine the potential ROI offered by electronics CBM. The case study of a multi-functional display in a Boeing 737 compared the life cycle costs of a system employing unscheduled maintenance to the same system using a precursor to failure CBM approach. Using a prognostic distance of 475 hours, a discrete event simulation was performed under the assumptions of negligible random failure rates and false alarm indications. A representative support life of 20 years was chosen and a 45 minute turnaround time was taken as the time between flights to construct an operational profile. Using this approach, an estimated 91 percent of failures were avoided. The results of this case study indicates the ROI with CBM is greater than 3.17 with an 80 percent confidence level.

The study analysis made use of a similar ROI framework as used by Banks *et al* [60] where the costs of the CBM-enabled system is compared directly to the total life cycle cost using an unscheduled maintenance policy which is appropriate for electronic systems.

The identified cost drivers were broken up into:

- Non-recurring costs related to the CBM system
 - Hardware and software development
 - Training
 - Documentation
 - Integration
 - Qualification.
- Recurring costs of the CBM system
 - Hardware added to each platform

 $^{^1\}mathrm{CBM}$ can also be described using the term Prognostic Health Management

- Assembly
- Functional testing of the CBM system
- Installation.
- Annual infrastructure costs
 - CBM system maintenance
 - Decision support
 - Retraining of personnel that use the CBM system.

The main benefit (i.e. cost avoidance) was characterised by failure avoidance and minimization of the loss of remaining useful life of the system. Failure avoidance in this case was further characterised by the ability to avoid failure during critical operation leading to system loss, or the ability to use prognostics to choose when to conduct maintenance to maximise convenience.

4.5 Advanced Amphibious Assault Vehicle

A study conducted by Banks *et al* [12] assessed the cost of a prognostics and CBM system for the AAAV (Advanced Amphibious Assault Vehicle), its effect on Life Cycle Costs (LCC), resulting ROI, qualitative risk factors, and application in a military environment. This analysis was conducted on the present day Amphibious Assault Vehicle (AAV).

The study specifically looked at a number of cost drivers affected by the introduction of a CBM system, including:

- Acquisition
 - End Item Production Hardware, software, installation
 - Initial spares and related inventory investment
 - Technical data
 - Training.
- Operations and Support Costs
 - Preventative and corrective maintenance
 - Depot repair and overhaul
 - Transportation costs (not quantified in the study)
 - Inventory investment for retail level supply points (not quantified in the study).
- Opportunity Benefit
 - Operational availability.

This study found that there was a ROI of a factor of 3.7:1 over 10 years. This analysis was based on an assumption that CBM would prevent 15 percent of catastrophic failures, which was used as a basis for comparable reductions in spares and maintenance costs. In addition, the model assumed that there would be an increase in operational availability through a 50 percent reduction in the Mean Logistics Delay Time (MLDT) which was believed to be heavily driven by time awaiting spares (i.e. 75 percent of the MLDT). This related to a 4.2 percent increase in operational availability of the equipment. There is a quantifiable improvement of reliability and operational availability of the vehicle in addition to the qualitative advantages to commanders and staff planners afforded by the implementation of CBM. The results of the analysis show a significant impact on life cycle for the AAV with the implementation of CBM. The LCC saving for the 10, 15 and 20 year life comes to 32M (4.8 percent), 223M (23.5 percent) and 263M (21.8 percent) USD respectively across the 680 vehicle fleet. These values would be higher when considering the savings from increased operational availability, which is not included in the case study.

4.6 Stryker Brigade Combat Team

In [29], the US Army logistics Innovation Center in coordination with the Army community developed a cost benefit analysis derived from a first fielding of a comprehensive set of Common Logistics Operating Environment (CLOE) enablers to a Stryker Brigade Combat Team (SBCT). An overall evaluation of the proposed investment in CLOE enablers using a multi-attribute decision model is provided. It documents the preliminary costs and benefits achieved from installing the CLOE enablers that support logistics transformation by increasing combat readiness, improving efficiency and effectiveness of support operations and giving commanders accurate information about the operational status of their forces. The technical risks are low and implementation costs are reduced because the capabilities can be provided by integrating and modifying existing products or inserting commercial-off-the shelf hardware and software. It includes not only the addition of enablers on the Stryker family of armoured vehicles, but also on the tactical wheeled vehicles that are in the SBCT. The report found that implementing the identified CLOE enablers is a worthwhile investment resulting in a savings of 75M USD if implemented across all seven SBCTs. The payback period is achieved in five years. The results of this CBA provides a foundation for a business case for the installation of CLOE enablers on additional army equipment [29]. Further analysis would need to be undertaken to understand if these results are transferable to the ADF with respect to our fleet scales.

4.7 Tactical Wheeled Vehicle Fleet

There has been a drive over the last few years to upgrade the US tactical wheeled vehicles (TWV) with CBM-enabling technologies. This would include many older vehicle types

such as the HMMWV², FMTV³, M939 FOV⁴, HEMTT⁵, HET⁶ Tractor and the PLS⁷. The total number of platforms within the TWV fleet is substantial, with some 209,000 plus vehicles requiring a sustainment budget well over USD1B per year. Interestingly based on a complete fit-out of the TWV fleet with low-mid range HUMS solution at 3500 USD per vehicle, and using an assumption of a modest 2 percent savings on the sustainment cost, this was estimated as having a return on investment of over 36 years [61]. There was little analysis given to what level of savings might actually be achieved, nor was the cost of other CBM enabling features included.

It is perhaps more useful to examine the business case for "CBM+" Enablers which included the following factors:

- One time costs
 - Purchase and installation of enablers
 - Development costs of enablers.
- Recurring costs
 - Repair & replacement of enablers
 - Software updates.
- Cost savings
 - Reduced parts orders
 - Lower transportation costs for parts
 - Correct parts ordered
 - Reduced fleet size due to higher vehicle availability.
- Cost avoidance
 - Minimised inspections due to better vehicle health visibility
 - Reduced repairs by avoiding collateral damage equipment failures
 - Fewer recovery missions for field failures
 - Reduced "exposure" time & resulting injuries for users and maintainers.

5 CBM Cost Benefit Analysis

5.1 Overview

CBM requires the installation of monitoring devices on subsystems to measure degradation [62]. Breuker *et al.* notes that a trade off exists between the costs and benefits of

²High Mobility Multipurpose Wheeled Vehicle

³Family of Medium Tactical Vehicles

⁴Family Of Vehicles

⁵Heavy Expanded Mobility Tactical Truck

⁶Heavy Equipment Transporter

⁷Palletised load system

real-time monitoring. For instance, performing frequent maintenance inspection results in high labor cost; conversely, infrequent maintenance inspection might lead to asset degradation and the possibility of premature failures [63]. It should also be noted that there is a cost associated to doing any maintenance as this can increase the chance of failure due to fitting errors etc. Hence, the costs and benefits of remote monitoring should be compared to the costs and benefits of frequent and infrequent maintenance inspections.

An effective CBM strategy requires a good understanding of asset criticality; failure rate modes and, effects; as well as the total cost of failures. Therefore, understanding what to monitor for a given asset requires reliability and financial related data [64].

5.2 Generic Cost Benefit Analysis Studies

Banks *et al* refined the approach used in the AAAV study in later papers [65, 60] to compare the non-recurring development costs and the costs of implementation. An important step in the process of generating a CBA is the understanding of the cost drivers, and in particular the reliability and failure characteristics of the system. This is very much supported by the "CBM+"Roadmap [4], and the work of Bayoumi *et al* [56] which indicates that such CBM analysis should be based on a deep understanding of the failure mechanisms, i.e. through a reliability centred maintenance approach.

Banks *et al* provided a worked example for automotive batteries in which there was a reported 11 percent failure rate due to serviceability-related misdiagnosis which potentially could have been reduced through the use of battery sensors⁸. Whilst the cost of early replacement of batteries may be small, given the number of vehicle batteries in the DoD exceeds 880,000 per year the potential savings are significant at an estimated level of USD2M per year. Given the cost of development, acquisition and installation of the battery prognostic sensors, it was believed that a return on investment of approximately 14 : 1 was achievable with payback period of 20 months. The analysis provided estimated costs over 25 years of service. In this analysis, neither the costs nor reliability appreciably change over this period of time except with inflation in the case of costs.

The main cost avoidance that is discussed is the reduction in maintenance labour hours due to the introduction of the CBM system. One of the interesting aspects that is introduced here is the challenge of costing unavailability of the equipment. This is generally done by equating the lost capability (operational availability, A_o) to the life cycle costs of that platform, i.e. how many more assets would be required to achieve a given A_o value? Of course, such a calculation assumes that the direct driver for unavailability is the lack of prognostics, and discounts that it might be more cost effective to improve availability through some other non-CBM means. It would also be difficult to equate these availability goals globally, as they would be quite different at the tactical mission level.

5.3 Exemplar B Vehicle Cost Benefit Analysis

DSTO developed a cost-benefit tool for HUMS for ADF helicopters known as HUMSSAVE [66]. This model was later extended to examine the land environment, namely generic B-Class

 $^{^8\}mathrm{This}$ is elsewhere recorded as a 22 percent misdiagnosis level

vehicles [67]. There are two major differences that apply between air vehicles and land vehicles: (1) impact of failure, and (2) the fact that air components are generally "lifed" and must therefore be replaced after a certain level of usage. The approach taken within this tool is to linearise costs and benefits over the remaining life of the vehicle in question, such that costs and benefits are reduced to a unit per unit rate of effort, e.g. kilometres driven. The analysis transitions benefits down to measures of monetary value, i.e. cost avoidance, based on:

- Safety: in this case the costs associated with having accidents and vehicle replacement
- Maintenance and Repair
 - Running: the expected reduction in maintenance hours rate with HUMS
 - Consumables: reduction in consumable spares rate due to HUMS
 - Major Line Replaceable Unit (LRU) Repair and Overhaul (R&O): the ability to detect and intervene early with engine overhaul
 - Equipment: the cost of non-HUMS test equipment that is replaced by HUMS.
- Usage Monitoring
 - Recovery Costs: the cost of recovering vehicle and cargo if breakdown occurs
 - Availability: relates the usage-based cost of support to a change in operational availability $^9.$
- Consequential Benefits
 - Parts consumption: the impact of reduced consumption through the extension of usable life of "lifed" components through CBM
- Fleet Management
 - Spares Stock Management: reduced cost of holding/managing spares due to prediction of spare requirements leading to a reduced demand
 - Replacement: achieving capability through higher utilisation from improved vehicle tracking through satellite tracking as compared to the purchase of additional vehicles¹⁰.

The costs analysis is much simpler:

- Capital costs
 - Fleet-wide "engineering" costs amortised to vehicles¹¹
 - Cost of HUMS system per vehicle¹².

⁹This assumes sunk costs may be proportioned across only available assets

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{The}$ rationale behind this is not clearly articulated

 $^{^{11}}$ where this may be equated to the cost of implementing a HUMS system external to the vehicle 12 where this may be equated to sensor costs

- Running costs
 - Training: training all staff per year per vehicle
 - Maintenance: HUMS system maintenance
 - Consulting: consultation to the fleet 13
 - Software: HUMS software upgrades
 - Ground Stations: Unspecified¹⁴
 - Central Management: Unspecified¹⁵.

The HUMMSAVE software simply undertakes a direct comparison of all monetary benefit and costs to obtain a net value (positive or negative) per vehicle, and per kilometer travelled. Clearly any econometric model will seek to define all parameters in terms of a dollar value, however translating LCC to a dollar/usage value may not be a suitable metric in the land as compared to air environment. Mission-specific benefits are not captured in this tool, nor are such things the additional benefits of capturing and storing accurate data for inventory management purposes. The model is however designed to provide a simplified view of the cost-benefit trade-off in the land environment. In this case, there is less emphasis placed on a single platform as compared to the entire mission package which might include many related platforms that are all required to be operational. This model does however provide an insight into the methods used in the air environment, and where significant differences exist between the air and land cases.

5.4 Costs

'Capability' in the Defence context is the combined effect of multiple inputs. It is not the sum of those inputs, but the synergy that arises from the way those inputs are combined and applied that determines the level of capability in a particular context. In Defence, the Fundamental Inputs to Capability (FIC), are categorised and broadly defined as: Personnel, Organisation, Support, Command and Management, Collective training, Major systems, Supplies and Facilities [68]. The commitment to implement a CBM program cannot be made until a number of issues are considered including:

- Investments in monitoring hardware,
- Software
- Dedicated manpower
- Training
- Automated and manual computer interfaces
- New procedure development and documentation.

¹³This may be through data analysis

¹⁴This may represent off-board data receivers/processors

¹⁵This may represent administrative and contractual overheads

Hence the costs associated with CBM includes:

• Set up costs: purchase of equipment, alteration of plant to gain access, and training. Most of this will be incurred during the initial period of operation [69]. Much of the expense can be avoided by using bought-in monitoring services and expertise, but management effort will still be required.

The costs involved in the set up of a CBM system could be as follows:

- Research and development, engineering, testing, and certification of the products required to provide the logistics enablers to the organisation
- Purchasing hardware or commercial off-the-shelf software, or hardware/software development
- License fees for products that do not already have government use agreements in place
- Changes to integrated systems e.g. systems such as Military Integrated Logistics Information System (MILIS)
- Installation costs for hardware and software
- Modifications to new equipment training packages to incorporate the enhanced capabilities [29].
- Recurrent Maintenance of CBM System and support costs:
 - hardware maintenance
 - sensor maintenance
 - training
 - upgrades and software licenses
 - network costs
 - power costs.
- Operation costs: collecting and analysing data. In house operation is preferable, but the learning curve may delay the pay back. Regular maintenance review is necessary [69].

5.5 Benefits

The expected benefits must be sufficient enough to justify the CBM system investments. The business case that justifies the installation of monitoring equipment must be developed with enough detail such that there is enterprise wide acceptance of it, and acknowledgement of the value of CBM by management.

The expected benefits from equipment condition monitoring fall into two general categories: Monetary and Soft/Intangible benefits. Monetary benefits and program costs are the fundamental elements of the business case but the soft benefits that may not directly effect the bottom line often enter significantly into the final business decisions [70]. CBM

might also offer substantial organizational as well as process-related benefits which could fall under either monetary or soft benefits. These benefits may include establishing an important linkage to the chain of command, providing input to command decision-making, reducing maintenance errors, enhancing the effectiveness and responsiveness of combat service support, obtaining material life cycle advantages, improving safety, and sacrificing transportation space for higher priority combat equipment. Not all of these things are readily transitioned to a monetary value.

Vachtsevanos *et al*'s [71], in their work on CBM, assigned estimates for the cost of on-board embedded diagnostics primarily associated with computing requirements. Advances in prognostic technologies (embedded diagnostics, distributed architectures, etc.) and lower hardware costs (sensors, computing, interfacing, etc.) were believed to bring CBM system set up and operational costs within 1 to 2 percent of a typical Army platform cost [71]. This method evaluated the cost benefit of a CBM system by first establishing a baseline condition and by estimating a cost of breakdown or time-based preventive maintenance from maintenance logs. If preventive maintenance was practiced, an estimate of how many of these maintenance events may be avoided was calculated. The cost of such avoided maintenance events was counted as a benefit of CBM. The intangible benefits alone are then evaluated by assigning severity index to the impact of breakdown maintenance on system operations and by estimating the projected cost of CBM, i.e. cost of instrumentation, computing, etc. The life-cycle costs and benefits were aggregated from the information obtained.

The following benefits of CBM were stated by Vachtsevanos et al [72]:

- Unprecedented insight into vehicle/squadron/fleet health
- Less time spent on inspections
- Better ability to plan maintenance
- Simplified training
- Improved fault detection.

A cost benefit analysis typically concentrates on the monetary benefits (cost savings and cost avoidance) from a proposed action. A benefit assessment also includes other quantifiable benefits (such as improvements in operational readiness) and non-quantifiable benefits. Non-quantifiable benefits are primarily associated with providing the war-fighters with capabilities that support operations and logistics such as safety, confidence, trust, mission endurance/success etc. [29].

Potential savings include:

- Increased readiness and operational availability [73]
- Reduced maintenance costs CBM avoids unnecessary repairs and replacements, saving labour and spare parts. The inconvenience and expense of making plant available for off-line maintenance is avoided

• Damage limitation - if a fault is detected early, the repair may easily cost orders of magnitude less than the consequential damage of a catastrophic failure [69].

A project to implement a CBM strategy/process would be deemed to be successful if the benefits and returns exceed the investment cost over a reasonable time period. This factor is determined using ROI metrics, i.e., the ratio of savings to investment. Savings are generally represented by returns that are quantified in cost or financial terms [74, 75, 59]. Another important challenge of CBM is to identify risks and to identify whether return on investments is more desirable than the long term benefits that are considered to be possible with the implementation of a CBM maintenance policy.

6 Challenges

There are many challenges that need to be addressed and one of the main challenges for CBM could be to identify the actual requirements of the CBM and to understand and implement it such that its benefits outweigh the cost. Some of the more detailed potential challenges are listed below [73]:

- Identification of high maintenance drivers (low MTBFs) and cost drivers
- Identification of the sensor suite
- Storage, transmission and analysis of data
- Identification of tools needed for data analysis
- Accurate identification of the RUL of components
- Reduction of computational requirement
- Increase vehicle level automated computational capability
- Expansion of CBM models from components to systems
- Configuration management
- Common diagnostics / prognostic algorithm development
- Component traceability
- Sensor integration open framework / configuration of sensors
- Conduct of a cost benefit analysis before CBM process can be implemented [76]
- Transitioning technology without formal requirements
- Overall system integration [73]
- Size of fleets to have CBM implemented on

- Good communications network between the vehicles, the warehouse, supply chain and maintenance centres
- Identification of the amount of data management and data analysis that a CBM system would require in order to make it an effective maintenance option
- Funding, given the very high initial capital costs that may preclude it within short term budgetary constraints [48]
- The lack of an over-arching Army/Defence policy on CBM
- Control mechanisms within the existing information systems capability to utilise condition monitoring effectively in the scheduling of work and anticipatory ordering of spare parts
- Operational security of platforms and missions
- Ownership and maintenance of data
- Expandability of CBM systems
- Proprietary interfaces
- Warranty implications for non-OEM approved items
- Workforce implications, such as the changes to skill requirements or indeed workforce size
- Identification of who needs what data and with what frequency and maximum delay.

7 Conclusion

CBM is an extension of the RCM philosophy whereby knowledge of the system is used to anticipate and optimise the maintenance program. In CBM, the usage and subsequent health of the individual vehicle is used to extend the usable life of the component parts and hence reduce wastage and increase operational availability. This approach has become standard practice in the aerospace environment where system reliability has direct safety and cost implications. The value proposition is less clear in the land environment, and indeed there have been few, if any, validated cost-benefit studies for Army equipment published in the open literature.

The research emphasis has historically been well and truly focussed on the development of technologies, system architectures and signal processing algorithms. Whilst there has been extensive work in the area of extending the diagnostics capabilities to prognostics, there remains less evidence for the efficacy of prognostics in land vehicles. This focus on the sensor and processing technology aspects has also largely avoided the potentially larger challenges of integrating the capability into Army's existing maintenance concepts, IT systems, processes and skill sets. Challenges also include the ability to develop control systems that can maximise the value of condition monitoring for improved maintenance performance.

Whilst there has been a number of systems both in the US and the UK that have implemented different levels of CBM and HUMS, information on the level of improvement versus cost investment remains unclear. Despite the apparent lack of published analysis with demonstrable cost-benefit outcomes, both the US and UK are continuing to invest heavily in both HUMS and CBM. Indeed, an holistic cost-benefit study looking at benefits across the entire sustainment chain, or indeed across the entire equipment life, remains to be done in the Australian context. One of the clear deficiencies remains the lack of consensus on how to conduct cost benefit analysis for CBM in the land environment. In particular, there is no agreed framework as to what factors are to be included, and more importantly how to handle non-economic or intangible benefits within that framework. A further challenge remains the ability to understand likely changes to cost drivers over the life of the equipment given the high degree of uncertainty involved with fleets having 20 to 40 year life-spans and continually changing mission/usage profiles.

References

- Reliability Centered Maintenance (2011) http://www.widepin.com/aims/rcm.html/. [Online; extracted on 25 Nov 2011].
- Garg, A. & Deshmukh, S. G. (2006) Applications and case studies maintenance management: Literature review and directions, *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering* 12(3), 205–238.
- 3. Reliability Centered Maintenance Guide, For Facilities and Collateral Equipment, National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) (2008).
- 4. Condition Based Maintenance Plus DoD Guidebook (2008).
- 5. Australian Defence Doctrine Publication, ADDP 4.5, Material Engineering and Maintenance (Nov, 2006).
- Jr, L. M., Saxena, A. & Knapp, G. M. (1995) A dynamic conceptual model to explore technology-based perturbations to a complex system: The land force, *Journal of Quality in maintenance Engineering* 1(1), 46–59.
- 7. Technical Regulation of ADF material Manual Land (TRAMM-L), Issue 4 (2009).
- 8. Operational Concept Description For Common Logistics Operating Environment (CLOE) Increment 1 Implementation for Ground Vehicles (2008).
- 9. Operational Concept Description For Common Logistics Operating Environment (CLOE) Increment 2 Implementation for Ground Vehicles (2008).
- 10. Embedded Diagnostics and Prognostics Synchronization (EDAPS), Transitioning to a Common Logistics Operating Environment (2003).
- 11. Jardine, A. K. S., Lin, D. & Banjevic, D. (2006) A review on machinery diagonostics and progenostics implementing condition- based maintenance, *Mechanical Systems* and Signal Processing 20 pp. 1483–1510.
- 12. Banks, J. C., Crow, E., Reichard, K. & Ruark, R. (2002) Cost-benefits analysis of the effect of condition-based maintenance strategies for military ground vehicles, *IEEEAC*.
- 13. Butcher, S. W. (2000) Assessment of condition based maintenance in the department of defence, *Logistics Management Institute*.
- 14. Rabeno, E. & Bounds, M. (2008) Condition based maintenance for military ground vehicles, *IEEAC*.
- 15. Wiseman, M. (2006) A history of cbm (condition based maintenance), Optimal Maintenance Decisions (OMDEC) Inc.
- 16. Nowlan, F. S. & Heap, H. F. (1978) Reliability-centered maintenance, U.S. Department of Commerce.
- 17. Implementation Strategies and tools for condition based maintenance at nuclear power plants, International Atomic Energy Agency (2007).

- Blanchard, B. S. (2004) Logistics Engineering and Management, 6 edn, Pearson education.
- 19. Blanchard, B. S. (1992) *Logistics Engineering and Management*, 4 edn, Prentice Hall International series on Industrial and Systems Engineering.
- 20. Held, T. (2007) Metrics and cost effective practices for a cbm+ based maintenance system, *RAND report no. DRR-4148-A*.
- 21. Condition Based Maintenance Plus (November 25, 2002).
- 22. Cutter, D. M. & Thompson, O. R. (2005) Condition based maintenance plus select program survey, *LMI Government consulting, Report Number LG306T6*.
- Keeney, L. M. & Rhoads, R. (2004) Embedded diagnostics and prognostics synchronization for army transformation, *IEEE Aerospace Conference Proceedings* 1247(2), 3733–3741.
- 24. Gunter, G. & Hingst, R. (2011) Autonomic sense and respond logistics: Evidense from the usa and uk, AIAC14 Fourteenth Australian International Aerospace Congress, 7th DSTO International Conference on Health and Usage Monitoring.
- 25. Kilby, S., Rabeno, E. & Harvey, J. (2011) Enabling condition based maintenance with health and usage monitoring systems, AIAC14 Fourteenth Australian International Aerospace Congress, 7th DSTO International Conference on Health and Usage Monitoring.
- amd M. S. Bounds, K. H. (2011) Terrain regime identification and classification for condition based maintenance, AIAC14 Fourteenth Australian International Aerospace Congress, 7th DSTO International Conference on Health and Usage Monitoring.
- 27. Banks, J., Reichard, K. & Drake, M. (2008) System reliability and condition based maintenance, *The Journal Of Relaibility Information Analysis Centre*.
- 28. Hingst, R. & Gunter, G. (2010) Autonomic and sense and respond logistics, *Australian Army Journal*.
- 29. Common Logistics Operating Environment, Benefits and Costs of Applying CLOE Enablers to a Stryker Brigade Combat Team (2008).
- 30. Military Equipment Useful Life Study Phase II, Office of the Under Secretary of Defense (Acquisition, Technology and Logistics), Property and Equipment Policy Office and Office of the Under Secretary of Defense (Comptroller), Accounting and Finance Policy Office (2008).
- 31. Solis, W. M. (2006) Preliminary observations on equipment reset challenges and issues for the army and marine corps, *Government Accountability Office*, *GAO-06-604T*.
- 32. Pinter, P. (2009) Condition-based maintenance high-tech diagnostic cleat detects mechanical problems in vehicle suspension systems, *Systems Engineering* pp. 70–73.

- Bunks, C., Mccarthy, D. & Al-Ani, T. (2000) Condition based maintenance of machines using hidden markov models, *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing* 14(4), 597–612.
- Marseguerra, M., Zio, E. & Podofillini, L. (2002) Condition based maintenance optimization by means of genetic algorithms and monte carlo simulation, *Reliability Engineering and Systems* 77, 151–166.
- 35. Grall, A., Berenguer, C. & Dieulle, L. (2001) A condition based maintenance policy for stochastically deteriorating systems, *Reliability Engineering and Systems* **76**, 167–180.
- 36. Gallo, M., Guizzi, G. & Zoppoli, P. (2007) A condition based maintenance simulation model for controlling the yield of pick and place machines, 6th WSEAS International Conference on System Science and Simulation in Engineering pp. 299–306.
- 37. Dabell, B. (2007) Vepro health and usage monitoring for military land systems, *nCode* International [Powerpoint slides].
- Pryztula, K. W., Dash, D. & Thompson, D. (2002) Evaluation of bayesian networks used for diagnostics, *IEEE* 7, 3177–3187.
- 39. Logan, K. P. (2003) Embedded diagnostics and prognostics synchronization for army transformation, *IEEEAC* 7, 3213–3225.
- 40. Gorjian, N., Ma, L., Mittinty, M., Yarlagadda, P. & Sun, Y. (2009) Condition based maintenance of machines using hidden markov models, *Proceedings of the 4th World Congress on Engineering Asset Management.*
- 41. Gorjian, N., Ma, L., Mittinty, M., Yarlagadda, P. & Sun, Y. (2010) The explicit hazard model part 1: Theoretical development, *PHM 2010 Macau : IEEE Prognostics and System Health Management Conference*.
- 42. del Rosario, R. (2007) Prognostics and diagnostics for operational awareness and condition based maintenance, ATO Manager Prognostics and Diagnostics, RDECOM, [Powerpoint slides].
- 43. Siddique, A., Yadava, G. & Singh, B. (2003) Applications of artificial intelligence techniques for induction machine stator fault diagnostics, *Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Diagnostics for Electric Machines, Power Electronics and Drives* p. 2934.
- 44. Tallam, R., Habetler, T. & Harley, R. (2002) Self-commissioning training algorithms for neural networks with applications to electric machine fault diagnostics, *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* **17**, 10891095.
- 45. Baillie, D. & Mathew, J. (1994) Nonlinear model-based fault diagnosis of bearings, Proceedings of an International Conference on Condition Monitoring p. 241252.
- 46. S. Simani, C. Fantuzzi, R. P. (2003) Model-based Fault Diagnosis in Dynamic Systems Using Identification Techniques, Springer.
- 47. Howard, I., Jia, S. & Wang, J. (2001) The dynamic modelling of a spur gear in mesh including friction and a crack, *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing* **15**, 831838.

- 48. Jackson, C. (2007) Condition based maintenance (cbm)workshop, TACOM Life Cycle Management Command, [Powerpoint slides].
- 49. Network Centric Warfare Roadmap (2007).
- 50. McKenna, T., Moon, T., Davis, R. & Warne, L. (2006) Science and technology for australian network-centric warfare: Function, form and fit, *Australian Defence Force Journal* **170**, 5.
- 51. Bechtel, J. (2007) Tardec condition based maintenance, *RDECOM*, [Powerpoint slides].
- 52. Wiseman, M., Lin, D., Gurvitz, N. & Dundics, M. (2005) The elusive p-f interval, Optimal Maintenance Decisions (OMDEC) Inc.
- 53. A. K. S. Jardine, T. J. & Banjevic, D. (1999) Optimizing condition-based maintenance decisions for equipment subject to vibration monitoring, *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering* 5(3), 192–202.
- Yam, R. C. M., Tse, P., Li, L. & Tu, P. (2001) Intelligent predictive decision support system for condition-based maintenance, *International Journal of Advanced Manufa*turing Technology 17, 383–391.
- 55. Pace, P., Kontokostas, L., Wessels, L. & Sockalingam, G. (2008) Condition-based maintenance using an integrated track maintenance management system, *Conference* On Railway Engineering pp. 303–312.
- 56. Bayomi, A., Goodman, N., Shah, R., Eisner, L., Grant, L. & Keller, J. (2008) Condition-based maintenance at usc - part iv: Examination and cost-benefit analysis of the cbm process, *The American Helicopter Society Specialists Meeting on Condition Based Maintenance*.
- 57. Rajan, B. S. & Roylance, B. J. (2000) Condition based maintenance: A systematic method for counting the cost and assessing the benefits, *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers*.
- 58. Land, J. E. (2001) Hums the benefits past, present and future, IEEE 6, 3083–3094.
- 59. Feldman, K., Sandborn, P. & Jazouli, T. (2008) The analysis of return on investment for phm applied to electronic systems, *Proceedings of the International Conference on Prognostics and Health Management*.
- 60. Banks, J. & Merenich, J. (2007) Cost benefit analysis for asset health management technology, *Reliability and Maintainability Symposium*, (RAMS '07).
- Tactical Wheeled Vehicle CBM Return on Investment, US Army (2011) http://www.acq.osd.mil/log/mpp/cbm+/Briefings/twv_cbm_comp_efforts_PM-TV.ppt/. [On-line; extracted on 11 Nov 2011].
- 62. Ellis, B. A. (2009) The challenges of condition based maintenance, TGP.
- 63. Breuker, M., Rossi, T. & Braun, J. (2000) Smart maintenance for rooftop units, *ASHRAE*.

- 64. Marquez, A. C. & Herguedas, A. S. (2004) Learning about failure root causes through maintenance records analysis, *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering* **10**(4), 254262.
- 65. Banks, J., Reichard, K., Crow, E. & Nickell, K. (2004) How engineers can conduct cost-benefit analysis for phm systems, *IEEEAC Paper 1363, Version 3.*
- Forsyth, G. F. & Lee, E. C. J. (2003) Humssave 4, a cost benefit econometric model for condition monitoring options, *Defence Science and Technology Organisation*, *Melbourne*.
- 67. Lee, E. C. J. (2007) Generic economic benefits model for adf b-vehicles hums, 12th Australian International Aerospace Congress / HUMS 2007.
- 68. Defence Capability Development Manual (2006).
- 69. Starr, A. G. (1997) A structured approach to the selection of condition based maintenance, 5th International Conference on Factory 2000 435, 2–4.
- Spare, J. H. (2001) Building the business case for condition based maintenance, *IEEE Publication 0-7803-7285-9.*
- 71. Vachtsevanos, G. (2003) Cost and complexity trade-offs in prognostics, NDIA Conference on Intelligent Vehicles.
- Vachtsevanos, G., Lewis, F. & Roemer, M. (2006) Intelligent Fault Diagnosis and Prognosis for Engineering Systems, John Wiley and Sons, ISBN: 978-0-471-72999-0.
- 73. Bocheneks, G. (2007) Cbm workshop overview, RDECOM, [Powerpoint slides].
- 74. Hines, J., Bennet, L., Ligetti, C., Banks, J. & Nestler, S. (2009) Cost benefit analysis trade space tool as a design aid for the us army vehicle health management system (vhms) program, Annual Conference of the Prognostics and Health Management Society.
- Saxena, L. M. A. & Knapp, G. M. (1995) Statistical-based or condition-based preventive maintenance, *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering* 1(1), 1355–2511.
- 76. Army Maintenance Policy, Maitenance of supplies and Equipment, AR 750-1 (2007).

 $\rm DSTO-GD-0664$

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

DISTRIBUTION LIST *

A Study of Condition Based Maintenance for Land Force Vehicles Sreeja Rajesh and Benjamin Francis

AUSTRALIA

DEFENCE ORGANISATION	No. of Copies		
S&T Program			
Chief Defence Scientist	1		
Chief, Projects and Requirements Division	1		
Group Finance Officer	1		
DG Science Strategy and Policy	1		
Counsellor Defence Science, London	Doc. Data Sheet		
Counsellor Defence Science, Washington	Doc. Data Sheet		
Scientific Adviser Intelligence and Information	1		
Navy Scientific Adviser	1		
Scientific Adviser - Army	1		
Air Force Scientific Adviser	1		
Scientific Adviser to the DMO	1		
Scientific Adviser - VCDF	Doc. Data Sheet &		
Scientific Adviser - CJOPS	Dist. List Doc. Data Sheet &		
Scientific Adviser - Strategy	Dist. List Doc. Data Sheet &		
Deputy Chief Defence Scientist Platform and Human Systems	Dist. List Doc. Data Sheet & Exec. Summary		
Chief of Land Operations Division	1 & Dist. List		
Research Leader, Land Systems	1 & Dist. List		
Task Leader, Lin Zhang	1		
Author, S. Rajesh	1 Printed		
Author, B. Francis	1 Printed		
DSTO Library and Archives			
Library Fishermans Bend	Doc. Data Sheet		
Library Edinburgh	1 Printed		
Library, Sydney	Doc. Data Sheet		
Library, Stirling	Doc. Data Sheet		
Library Canberra	Doc. Data Sheet		

DSTO-GD-0664

Database on DSN	1
Capability Development Group	
Director General Maritime Development	Doc. Data Sheet
Director NCW Development	Doc. Data Sheet
Assistant Secretary Investment Analysis	Doc. Data Sheet
Chief Information Officer Group	
DICTF	Doc. Data Sheet
Strategy Executive	
Assistant Secretary Strategic Planning	Doc. Data Sheet
Policy Officer, Counter–Terrorism and Domestic Security Jon Longhurst, Deliberate Planning & Strategic Wargam-	Doc. Data Sheet
ing Startonia Dalieu Division	Doc. Data Sheet
Viae Chief of the Defence Force Crown	
SO (Science) Counter Irannoviced Europeire Device Tech Force	Dec. Data Chest f
SO (Science) – Counter Improvised Explosive Device Task Force	Exec. Summary & Dist. List
Joint Logistics Command	
Directorate of Ordnance Safety Head Engineering Systems	1
Navy	
Maritime Operational Analysis Centre, Building 89/90 Garden Island Sydney NSW	Doc. Data Sheet &
Deputy Director (Operations)	Dist. List
Deputy Director (Analysis) J Director General Navy Capability, Performance and Plans, Navy Headquarters	Doc. Data Sheet
Director General Navy Communications & Information Warfare	Doc. Data Sheet
Director General Navy Health Services	Doc. Data Sheet
Director General Navy Certification and Safety	Doc. Data Sheet
Director General Navy People	Doc. Data Sheet
Head Navy Engineering	Doc. Data Sheet
Commodore Training	Doc. Data Sheet
Commander Surface Force	Doc. Data Sheet
Commander Mine Warfare, Clearance Diving, Hydrographic, Meteorological and Patrol Force	Doc. Data Sheet
Commander Fleet Air Arm	Doc. Data Sheet
Commander Submarine Force	Doc. Data Sheet
Commodore Flotillas	Doc. Data Sheet
Commodore Support	Doc. Data Sheet
SO Science Fleet Headquarters	1

Army	
SO(Science) Forces Command	1
 SO (Science) – Special Operations Command (SOCOMD) Russell Offices Canberra SO(Science) 1st Division 	Doc. Data Sheet & Exec. Summary & Dist. List
Chief of Staff HO 16Dda (Arm)	Doc. Data Sheet
SO2 S&T FDG LWDC – (Staff Officer for Science and Technology, Force Development Group)	Doc. Data Sneet & Exec. Summary & Dist. List Doc. Data Sheet
SO(Science) 1Bde	Doc. Data Sheet
SO(Science) 3Bde	Doc. Data Sheet
SO(Science) 17 CSS Bde	Doc. Data Sheet
J86 (TCS GROUP), DJFHQ	Doc. Data Sheet
Air Force	
 SO (Science) – Headquarters Air Combat Group, RAAF Base, Williamtown NSW 2314 Staff Officer Science Surveillance and Response Group 	Doc. Data Sheet & Exec. Summary Doc. Data Sheet & Exec. Summary
SO (Science) Combat Support Group	Doc. Data Sheet & Exec. Summary
Staff Officer Science HQ Air Lift Group	Doc. Data Sheet & Exec. Summary & Dist. List
Joint Operations Command	
Director Military Strategic Capability	Doc. Data Sheet
Director General Strategic Logistics	Doc. Data Sheet
Intelligence and Security Group	
AS Transnational and Scientific Intelligence, DIO	Doc. Data Sheet
Manager, Information Centre, Defence Intelligence Organisation	1
Director Advanced Capabilities, DIGO	Doc. Data Sheet
Defence Materiel Organisation	
CoS GM Systems	Doc. Data Sheet
Program Manager Air Warfare Destroyer	Doc. Data Sheet
Guided Weapon & Explosive Ordnance Branch (GWEO)	Doc. Data Sheet
Director Engineering Operations; Land Engineering Agency (Michael Yates)	Doc. Data Sheet
CSIO	Doc. Data Sheet
Deputy Director Joint Fuel & Lubricants Agency	Doc. Data Sheet
Systems Engineering Manager CBRNE Program Office, Land Systems Division	Doc. Data Sheet

SPARES

4 Printed

Total number of copies: 24 Printed: 7 PDF: 17

* In keeping with the DSTO Research Library's Policy on Electronic distribution of official series reports, unclassified, xxx-in confidence and restricted reports will be sent to recipients via DRN email as per the distribution list. Authors, task sponsors, libraries and archives will continue to receive hard copies.

DEFENCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY ORGANISATION DOCUMENT CONTROL DATA				TION	1. CAVEAT/PRIVACY MARKING					
2. TITLE				3. SECURI	TY CLASS	SIFICATI	ON			
A Study of Conditio	on Bas	sed Maintenance	e for Land	Documer	nt (U)				
Force Vehicles			Title (U)							
			Abstract (U)							
4. AUTHORS				5. CORPO	RATE AUT	THOR				
Sreeja Rajesh and I	Benja	min Francis		Defence a	Science a	nd Tecl	hnolo	gy Organisation		
				PO Box	1500		1	111 A . 11		
				Edinburg	gh, South	Austra	$\frac{11a}{5}$	111, Australia		
6a. DSTO NUMBER		6b. AR NUMBER		6c. TYPE	6c. TYPE OF REPORT			7. DOCUMENT DATE		
8 FILE NUMBER	о т	SK NUMBER	10 TASK	SPONSOR			reb	12 No. OF REFS		
1263707/1	07/3	306	DGLD	51 ONSON	11. No. OF PAGE		0	76		
13. URL OF ELECTRO	NIC V	ERSION		14. RELEA	SE AUTH	ORITY				
http://www.dsto.	defer	nce.gov.au/		Chief, Land Operations Division						
publicat	ions,	/scientific.pl	np							
15. SECONDARY RELE	CASE S	TATEMENT OF T	HIS DOCUM	ENT						
Approved for Public	c Rele	ease								
OVERSEAS ENQUIRIES OUTSIDE STATED LIMITATIONS SHOULD BE REFERRED THROUGH DOCUMENT EXCHANGE, PO BOX 1500, EDINBURGH, SOUTH AUSTRALIA 5111										
16. DELIBERATE ANNOUNCEMENT										
No Limitations										
17. CITATION IN OTHER DOCUMENTS										
No Limitations										
18. DSTO RESEARCH LIBRARY THESAURUS										
Condition Based Maintenance										
Diagnostics										
Prognostics										
19. ABSTRACT										
Condition Based Maintenance (CBM) is a method of both diagnostic and prognostic maintenance that										
has been used extensively in the air environment. This report describes a literature review of CBM										
where it relates to the land-based platform maintenance in particular. The review outlines the current										

Page classification: UNCLASSIFIED

based Maintenance (CBM) is a method of both diagnostic and prognostic maintenance that has been used extensively in the air environment. This report describes a literature review of CBM where it relates to the land-based platform maintenance in particular. The review outlines the current state of CBM analysis, and in particular in terms of prognostic fleet management. Emphasis is further placed on an enquiry into the costs and benefits of CBM for land force equipment maintenance. A number of CBM cost-benefit studies are used as case studies to provide a framework for future analysis, including the potential challenges and the issues that CBM could bring to Army if implemented. The insights gained from this review give an understanding of the introduction and implementation of CBM to legacy fleets, but in particular the adoption of CBM into new equipment fleets such as LAND 400.

Page classification: UNCLASSIFIED